IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI AND/OR COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI, APPELLANT

VS.

JOHNNY DELANEY, APPELLEE

CAUSE NO. 2009-CA-01640

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

James H. Powell, III
Ms. Bar No
District Attorney 21st District
P. O. Box 311
Durant, MS 39063
(662) 653-3191 (telephone)
(662) 653-6723 (facsimile)

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the justices of the Supreme Court and/or the judges of the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. WHETHER THE COURT ERRED IN RULING THAT SECTION 99-3-28 APPLIED TO GRAND JURY PROCEEDINGS AND INDICTMENTS?
- II. WHETHER THE COURT ERRED BY FAILING TO RULE THAT A FAILURE TO COMPLY WITH THE PROVISIONS OF 99-3-28 WAS A MOOT ISSUE AFTER AN INDICTMENT HAD BEEN RETURNED AGAINST DELANEY BY THE GRAND JURY?
- III. WHETHER THE COURT ERRED IN ORDERING A DISMISSAL WITH PREJUDICE, EVEN IF A DISMISSAL OF THE INDICTMENT FOR A VIOLATION OF MISSISSIPPI CODE ANNOTATED SECTION 99-3-28 WAS WARRANTED?
- IV. WHETHER SECTION MISSISSIPPI CODE ANNOTATED SECTION 99-3-28
 CONTRAVENES THE CONSTITUTIONAL MANDATES IMPOSED UPON THE
 JUDICIARY FOR THE FAIR ADMINISTRATION OF JUSTICE?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. Nature of the Case

The Appellant herein, the State of Mississippi (hereinafter State) seeks reversal of a bench opinion rendered by the Holmes County Circuit Court on September 28, 2009, holding that a law enforcement officer charged with a felony offense occurring while the law enforcement officer is acting within the scope of his duties, may not be indicted for such felony until a probable cause hearing is held pursuant to Mississippi Code Annotated Section 99-3-28. The State further appeals the Court's decision in said bench opinion to dismiss with prejudice, the indictment against the Appellee, Johnny Delaney, (hereinafter Delaney).

II. Procedural History and Disposition of Case

Delaney, a trooper with the Mississippi Highway Patrol, was indicted for extortion by the Holmes County Grand Jury in an indictment filed by the Holmes County Circuit Clerk on December 1, 2008. (CP p4) Delaney was served with a copy of his indictment and on December 22, 2008, he waived formal arraignment. (CP p10) The Circuit Court set an initial trial date of April 30, 2009 (CP p13), but the cause was continued until October 1, 2009, by Order of the Holmes County Circuit Court.(CP pp 24,25).

On September 16, 2009, Delaney filed a "Motion to Dismiss and/or Quash the Indictment Against Johnny Delaney" (CP pp 32-35). The Court heard said motion on September 28, 2009, and rendered an opinion from the bench granting said motion and dismissing the indictment against Delaney with prejudice. (T pp 1-22). An "Order" dismissing said indictment with prejudice because of a failure to provide Delaney with a probable cause hearing was subsequently entered on said date. (CP pp 81,82) The State filed its "Notice of Appeal" from the Circuit Court's bench opinion and subsequent Order on October 5, 2009. (CP pp 83,84)

		_

ı			
1			
1			
1			
,			
ı			
1			
1			
ı			

III. Statement of the Facts

There was never any evidentiary hearing held in this matter in which witnesses were called to testify by either the State or Delaney, since the issue in dispute was primarily a matter of law concerning the interpretation of section 99-3-28 MCA. From the transcript of the motion hearing held on September 28, 2009, it is clear that there are certain facts which are undisputed that apply to this cause.

Delaney was a Mississippi Highway Patrol Trooper who issued a speeding ticket on or about August 29, 2008, to an individual named Jessie Jordan. (T p. 5, CP p4). Jordan complained to law enforcement authorities that Delaney was attempting to extort money from him in order for Delaney to dismiss the ticket. Based on that complaint the Mississippi Bureau of Investigation (MBI) investigated Jessie Jordan's Complaint and developed evidence of the commission of the crime of extortion by Delaney. (T p. 7)

After completing its investigation, the MBI directly presented the evidence it had collected against Delaney to the Holmes County Grand Jury, which returned an indictment against him for extortion. (CP p4)

Delaney's indictment was filed with the Circuit Clerk on December 1, 2008. (CP p4) On December 3, 2008 Mitchell Creel entered an appearance as attorney of record for Delaney (CP p.7). The next day, December 4, 2008, said attorney filed a demand for discovery. (CP p8) On December 19, 2008 an agreed order for bail in the sum of one thousand dollars (\$1,000.00) was signed by the Court and was filed with the Clerk on December 22, 2008. (CP p.9)

Edward Blackmon, Jr. entered an appearance as attorney for Delaney on January 29, 2010. (CP pp 11,12) On February 10, 2010, the Court entered an Order setting Delaney's trial

date for April 30, 2010. (CP p 13) The Court entered an Order on April 29, 2010, continuing the matter and resetting the trial date for October 1 2010. (CP pp 24,25)

Delaney never made any demand for or claim that he should have been given a probable cause hearing prior to indictment by the Grand Jury until he filed his Motion to Dismiss on September 16, 2010, (CP pp 32,33) approximately 10 months after he had received his indictment. Said Motion to dismiss claimed among other things that:

- a. the indictment was "sought and obtained" by the State of Mississippi in violation of
 Delaney's Fifth and Fourteenth Amendment Rights to due process and equal protection;
 (CP p 22)
- b. the indictment was "sought and obtained" by the State of Mississippi in violation of the requirements of Mississippi Code Annotated Section 99-3-28; (CP p 22) and
- c. that the State "in contravention" of Mississippi Code Annotated Section 99-3-28 wrongly presented the case directly to the Grand Jury. (CP p 23)

Delaney expanded his claims during the September 28, 2010 hearing on his Motion by claiming among other things:

- a. that the Legislature passed Mississippi Code Section 99-3-28 to prohibit that special class of people employed by the State as designated by the legislature from being "arrested or charged" without a probable cause hearing; (T pp. 3,4)
- b. that Mississippi Code Annotated Section 99-3-28 requires in every circumstance a probable cause hearing for a law enforcement officer before he can be arrested or charged with a crime; (T pp 6,7)
- c. that Mississippi Code Annotated Section 99-3-28 applies not only to criminal charges, but prohibits administrative action against law enforcement officers, by their employers

without first having a probable cause hearing pursuant to the statutory language; (T p. 7,8) and

d. that since Delaney was suspended from his duties with the Mississippi Highway Patrol after he was indicted, that employment suspension prejudiced Delaney and warranted a dismissal of the indictment with prejudice. (T p.8)

There are no reported Court of Appeals or Mississippi Supreme Court opinions interpreting Mississippi Code Annotated Section 99-3-28. Neither the State or the Defense were therefore able to cite an opinion providing an interpretation of the Statute. The State did find several opinions dealing with the Statute issued by the Mississippi Attorney General. Those opinions interpret the statute as being limited to proceedings handled by the county prosecuting attorney in justice and county courts. One opinion issued in 2004 specifically stated that the statute did not apply after an indictment had been returned by the Grand Jury. (T. pp 11,12)

The State additionally argued that the statutory requirements were very similar to the requirements for a preliminary hearing for persons charged with felony crimes and that the appellate courts, have held that an indictment renders the preliminary hearing requirement moot.

(T p. 12)

Finally, the State argued that since the Supreme Court has adopted procedural rules dealing with the powers of the grand jury, those rules supercede the provisions of Mississippi Code Section 99-3-28, in-so-far as the statute conflicts with the rules adopted by the Courts. (T p. 17)

The Circuit Court found that Mississippi Code Section 99-3-28 applied to the facts of this case and that the state was required to either afford him a probable cause hearing, pursuant to Section 99-3-28 (1) (a) or obtain an arrest warrant pursuant to section 99-3-28 (2), and that the

State failed to either provide him with a probable cause hearing or seek a warrant pursuant to those provisions. (CP pp. 81, 82)

The Court further found that the State's failure to utilize the provisions of 99-3-28 deprived Delaney of his Fifth and Fourteenth Amendment rights under the United States Constitution; and finally found that Delaney was deprived of liberty and property without due process in violation of the State and Federal Constitutions. The Court then Ordered the indictment against Delaney to be dismissed with prejudice.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Holmes County Circuit Court erroneously construed Mississippi Code Section 99-3-28, and gave it a much broader definition than the literal language of the statute warrants. The statute does not mention Grand Juries or Indictments anywhere within the body of the statute and the language used therein makes it clear that the statute was intended to apply only to courts inferior to the Circuit Court.

The Circuit Court erroneously failed to follow the decisions of the Mississippi Supreme

Court and the United States Supreme Court in finding that former jeopardy applied to this case

and as a result of said finding, dismissing the indictment against Delaney with prejudice.

Delaney was never before the ultimate trier of fact in this cause, and was never at any stage of this

proceeding placed in jeopardy of a conviction.

Because of its erroneous rulings and misapplication of the law to the case against Delaney, the Circuit Court deprived the State of Mississippi of its right to prosecute its case against Delaney for extortion while he was employed as a uniformed law enforcement of the State. If Mississippi Code Section 99-3-28 is properly construed, and/or the prior decisions of the Mississippi Supreme Court concerning former jeopardy are applied to this cause, the September

28, 2009 Order of the Circuit Court of Holmes County, Mississippi, will be set aside and this cause will be remanded to the Holmes County Circuit Court for trial of Delaney on the Indictment returned by the Grand Jury.

ARGUMENT

I. WHETHER THE COURT ERRED IN RULING THAT SECTION 99-3-28 APPLIED TO GRAND JURY PROCEEDINGS AND INDICTMENTS?

Mississippi Code Annotated Section 99-3-28 provides as follows:

- 99-3-28. Teachers or sworn law enforcement officers charged with committing crime while in the performance of duties; certain procedural requirements to be met prior to issuance of arrest warrant.
- (1) (a) Except as provided in subsection (2) of this section, before an arrest warrant shall be issued against any teacher who is a licensed public school employee as defined in Section 37-9-1, a certified jail officer as defined in Section 45-4-9, a counselor at an adolescent offender program created under Section 43-27-201 et seq., or a sworn law enforcement officer within this state as defined in Section 45-6-3 for a criminal act, whether misdemeanor or felony, which is alleged to have occurred while the teacher, jail officer, counselor at an adolescent offender program or law enforcement officer was in the performance of official duties, a probable cause hearing shall be held before a circuit court judge. The purpose of the hearing shall be to determine if adequate probable cause exists for the issuance of a warrant. All parties testifying in these proceedings shall do so under oath. The accused shall have the right to enter an appearance at the hearing, represented by legal counsel at his own expense, to hear the accusations and evidence against him; he may present evidence or testify in his own behalf.
- (b) The authority receiving any such charge or complaint against a teacher, jail officer, counselor at an adolescent offender program or law enforcement officer shall immediately present same to the county prosecuting attorney having jurisdiction who shall immediately present the charge or complaint to a circuit judge in the judicial district where the action arose for disposition pursuant to this section.
- (2) Nothing in this section shall prohibit the issuance of an arrest warrant by a circuit court judge upon presentation of probable cause, without the holding of a probable cause hearing, if adequate evidence is presented to satisfy the court that there is a significant risk that the accused will flee the court's jurisdiction or that the accused poses a threat to the safety or well being of the public.

The position of the State is that the foregoing statute has no application to grand jury indictments and that the Holmes County Circuit Court incorrectly and erroneously interpreted the statute in its September 28, 2009 ruling from the bench (T pp. 19, 20) and the Order entered subsequent to said bench opinion. (CP pp 81,82)

The review of a trial Court's interpretation of a statute presents a question of law which requires a de novo standard of review. *Mississippi Ethics Com'n v. Grisham*, 957 So.2d 997, 1000 (Miss. 2007) (citing 32 Pit Bulldogs v. County of Prentiss, 808 So.2d 971, 973 (Miss. 2002)) Finn v. State, 942 So.2d 1270, 1272 (Miss. 2008) (citing Capital One Servs. v. Page, 942 So.2d 760, 762. (Miss. 2006))

The first question before the reviewing Court is whether the statute is ambiguous. "If the statute is not ambiguous, the court should interpret and apply the statute according to its plain meaning without the aid of principles of statutory construction." Finn v. State, 942 So.2d 1270, 1272 (Miss. 2008) (citing Harrison County Sch. Dist. v. Long Beach Sch. Dist., 700 So.2d 286, 288-89 (Miss. 1997)) (citing Miss. Power Co. v. Jones, 369 So.2d 1381, 1388 (Miss. 1979))

"The Courts cannot restrict or enlarge the meaning of an unambiguous statute." *Marx v. Broom*, 632 So.2d 1315, 1318 (Miss. 1994) (citing *City of Hazlehurst v. Mayes*, 96 Miss. 656, 51 So. 890 (1910); *Hammer v. Yazoo Delta Lumber Co.*, 100 Miss. 349, 56 So. 466 (1911); and *State v. Taylor*, 100 Miss. 544, 56 So. 521 (1911)) They have a duty to give statutes a practical application consistent with their wording, unless such application is inconsistent with the obvious intent of the legislature. *Marx*, infra at 1318, (citing *Thornhill v. Ford*, 213 Miss. 49, 56 So.2d 23, (1952))

Mississippi Code Annotated Section 99-3-28 (1) (a), by its plain language expresses a Legislative intent to prohibit Courts below the Circuit Court level from issuing arrest warrants against: Law Enforcement officers and the other persons within a class specified within the statute. The prohibition against issuing an arrest warrant applies: if the Law Enforcement officer or other protected person, is

alleged to have committed a misdemeanor or felony; while such person was acting in the performance of the official duties of the protected class in which he or she is a member.

Subsection (1) (b) places the responsibility for effectuating the provisions of the statute on the "county prosecuting attorney" of presenting to the circuit court having jurisdiction, the misdemeanor or felony offense for which a warrant is being sought against one of the protected persons. District attorneys, grand juries, and indictments are not terms that are mentioned anywhere within the body of the statute. It is inconceivable that the Mississippi Legislature would not have mentioned those terms if it had intended the statute to apply to the actions of a district attorney or a grand jury, or to an indictment returned by a grand jury.

The term "county prosecuting attorney" appears numerous times within the Mississippi Code. It is not a term that is synonymous with the term "district attorney". Mississippi Code Annotated, Section 19-23-1 provides as follows:

There shall be, in the counties where such an office now exists, a county prosecuting attorney, elected in the county at each general election for state and county officers. The several counties in the state shall have the right to come from under and within the provisions of this chapter in the manner hereinafter provided.

Mississippi Code Annotated Section 19-23-11 defines the duties of a county prosecuting attorney. It provides for both mandatory duties that the county prosecuting attorney must perform and for permissive duties that in the discretion of the county prosecuting attorney may be performed.

Sections (1) and (4) of the statute state that the mandatory duties of the county prosecuting attorney are:

(1) The county prosecuting attorney shall appear and represent the state in all investigations for felony before the various justice court judges in his county. He shall also appear before justice court judges and prosecute all cases against persons charged with offenses therein. The county prosecuting attorney shall be the prosecuting attorney for the county court and shall prosecute all state criminal cases therein, and he shall represent the state in criminal cases appealed from the county court to the circuit court.

(4) The county prosecuting attorney shall have full responsibility for all misdemeanors, youth court proceedings, and all other cases not specifically granted to the district attorney. Provided, however, that in any municipality having a municipal youth court, the municipal prosecutor shall have responsibility for youth court matters in that court. Where any statute of this state confers a jurisdiction, responsibility, duty, privilege or power upon a county attorney or county prosecuting attorney, either solely, jointly or alternatively with a district attorney, such county prosecuting attorney shall be responsible for the prosecution, handling, appearance, disposition or other duty conferred by such statute. Any such provision shall not be construed to bestow such responsibility, jurisdiction or power upon the district attorney where there is no elected county prosecuting attorney, and any such matter shall be handled pursuant to subsection (8) of this section.

Pursuant to the provisions of subsection (1) of the statute, the county prosecuting attorney, is primarily responsible for representing the state in justice courts and county courts. He prosecutes on behalf of the state before the circuit courts on matters appealed from those courts. In subsection (4) of the statute, a county prosecuting attorney has full responsibility for misdemeanors, youth court proceedings, and other cases not specifically granted to the district attorney. It further gives the county prosecuting attorney the responsibility for the prosecution, handling, appearance, and disposition over all statutory matters where the county prosecuting attorney has sole, joint, or alternate jurisdiction with the district attorney.

Subsection (5) Mississippi Code Annotated 19-23-11 deals with situations where a case which is originally the responsibility of the county prosecuting attorney but subsequently becomes the responsibility of the district attorney. It reads as follows:

(5) In any case handled by the county prosecuting attorney pursuant to this section which subsequently results in charges being modified in such a manner that the case would be within the jurisdiction of the district attorney pursuant to Section 25-31-11, the responsibility for prosecution shall be transferred to the district attorney. The county prosecuting attorney shall report to the district attorney the disposition of all affidavits, crimes, occurrences or arrests handled by him wherein any person is charged with a crime for which a conviction may result in imprisonment in the State Penitentiary.

What is the effect if the county prosecuting attorney doesn't carry out a statutory responsibility within his jurisdiction? Subsection (6) of 19-23-11 provides the answer to that question as follows:

(6) The validity of any judgment or sentence shall not be affected by the division of jurisdiction under this section, and no judgment or sentence may be reversed or modified upon the basis that the case was not processed according to subsection (5) of this section.

Mississippi Code Annotated Section 19-23-11, states in plain language that the powers and duties conferred on county prosecuting attorneys by legislative enactments are not jurisdictional. The failure to comply with duties imposed by statute on a county prosecuting attorney will not effect any subsequent jurisdiction dealing with the disposition of the case.

Mississippi Code Annotated, Section 99-3-28, imposes duties on the county prosecuting attorney. It does not however impose any duties on a district attorney. It does not prohibit the presentation of a felony case against a law enforcement officer to a grand jury. It fails to provide any relief to any of the individuals covered by the statute for failure to comply with the statute. And finally, it certainly does not provide for or contemplate the relief of dismissal with prejudice of an indictment as was done in this case.

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