COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLANT

VS

CAUSE NO. 2009-CA-01640

APPELLEE

JOHNNY DELANEY

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following list persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the justices of the Supreme Court and/or Judges of the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualification recusal.

- 1. Edward Blackmon, Jr., Blackmon & Blackmon, PLLC, P. O. Drawer 105, Canton, Mississippi 39046, attorney of record for the Appellee, Johnny Delaney.

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The legislative enactment of Section 99-3-28 falls within that branch of government's authority to legislate policy matters. It was clearly within the Legislators' authority to mandate

certain procedural prerequisites prior to the issuance of an arrest warrant for the class of individuals identified in Section 99-3-28.

The language of the statute and its definition are plain and easily understood. There is no need to construct the legislative intent. Section 99-3-28 very clearly states no arrest, for a criminal act, whether misdemeanor or felony can be made without a finding of probable cause by a circuit court judge. There is no provision in the statute which would allow for an end run around the requirements of the statute.

A grand jury proceeding is not a substitute for the required procedure of a probable cause hearing under the statute. The statute allows for certain due process rights to the accused. Among them are: the right to enter an appearance; be represented by counsel; to hear the accusations and evidence against him; to present evidence or testify in his own behalf. None of these rights are afforded the accused in a grand jury proceeding.

The dismissal of the indictment against the Appellee by the Circuit Court of Holmes County, Mississippi was warranted and constitutionally required because of the double jeopardy Appellee would be exposed to if the Appellant were allowed to continue its prosecution.

Appellee had already been punished by being deprived of his employment and livelihood during the period of his indictment. Any subsequent attempt to prosecute the Appellee for the same crime would violate Appellee's constitutionally protected rights under the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendment of the United States Constitution.

ARGUMENT

THE COURT DID NOT ERROR IN FINDING THAT SECTION 99-3-28 APPLIED TO THE GRAND JURY PROCEEDINGS AND INDICTMENT

The Legislature enacted Section 99-3-28 to protect police/corrections officers, teachers and counselors from being arrested for baseless, and often retaliatory, criminal charges lodged against them for acts alleged to have occurred while they were acting in their official capacities.

This selected class of individuals was deemed by the Legislature to be particularly vulnerable to false and unsupportable allegations. Thus, it was determined by the Legislature that, as a matter of public policy, these individuals could not be subject to arrest without a probable cause hearing before a Circuit Court judge.

The clear and unambiguous requirement mandated by Section 99-3-28 is that for the protected class of individuals identified in the aforesaid Section, the County Prosecutor is required to present the case to the Court for a probable cause hearing.

The State artfully argues that the Circuit Court of Holmes County applied a meaning to the statute at variance with its clear wording. Although the State argues for strict construction, it seeks relief that would require the Court to first find that the statute is ambiguous, and then reconstruct the same to allow the State to bypass the statutory mandate providing for a preliminary hearing before arrest. Section 99-3-28 (1)(a) provides for only one exception which would allow an arrest without the holding of a probable cause hearing, the same being 99-3-28 (2). There is no statutory language in Section 99-3-28 which would allow the procedure advanced by the Appellant, that the statute did not apply if the charges were presented directly to a grand jury.

In the case of *Gilmer v. State*, 955 So.2d 829, 834 (Miss. 2007), this Court held that, "When a statute is unambiguous, this Court applies the plain meaning of the statute and refraining from the use of statutory construction principles." Here, the Court should likewise avoid doing so. Section 99-3-28 is clear and unambiguous and its intent can be discerned from the plain meaning of its language.

There is sound reason for the Legislature to have enacted Section 99-3-28 to protect this special class of individuals. The designated class, through its direct contact with the public in carrying out their duties and responsibilities, often are subject to false and retaliatory criminal

charges. As a matter of public policy, the Legislature was within its constitutional authority to provide for mandatory procedure to follow prior to the arrest of this protected class of individuals.

The Appellant incorrectly argues that the events in Alabama, in which a professor allegedly shot six of her co-workers, "killing three of them," would fall under the requirements of Section 99-3-28. (Appellant's Brief, p.5). This argument is more than a stretch. Section 99-3-28 is limited to those instances where the defined class member is being charged with a misdemeanor or felony, which is alleged to have occurred while the teacher, jailed officer, counselor at an adolescent offender program or law enforcement officer was in the "performance of official duties." 99-3-28 (1)(a).

The killing of co-workers could never be logically argued to be an act committed while the class member was "in the performance of official duties" 99-3-28 (1)(a). The attempt to frame these facts as being analogous is without merit.

THE INDICTMENT OF APPELLEE DID NOT RENDER THE PROVISIONS OF SECTION 99-3-28 MOOT

The State inexplicably argues that in this instance that the grand jury proceeding which resulted in the indictment of the Appellee, was equivalent to the probable cause hearing required in Section 99-3-28. The relevant section which is applicable to Appellant's argument provides that:

... a probable cause hearing shall be held before a circuit court judge. The purpose of the hearing shall be to determine if adequate probable cause exit for the issuance of a warrant. All parties testing in these proceedings shall have the right to enter an appearance at the hearing, represented by legal counsel at his own expense, to hear the accusation and evidence against him; he may present evidence or testify in his own behalf.

The Appellant omits from its argument that in a grand jury proceeding, none of the rights granted to Appellant in Section 99-3-28 are afforded him. The accused in matters being taken up

by a grand jury, has no right to be present or enter his appearance; to be represented by counsel; to hear the accusations and evidence against him; to present evidence; or to testify in his own behalf. All of these rights are afforded a defendant in Section 99-3-28.

Grand juries in our criminal justice system are screening bodies that prosecutors use to secure indictments against criminal defendants. Witnesses who appear before the grand jury, nor potential defendants, have the right to counsel during the grand jury investigation. *Kirby v. Illinois*, 406 N.5. 682 (1972).

In fact, Section 97-9-53, Miss. Code Ann. prohibits a defendant from being told that an indictment has been returned until after he has been arrested or given bail or recognizance thereto. This hardly provides of equivalent due process to probable cause hearing afforded a defendant in Section 99-3-28.

The argument that the grand jury proceedings mooted the requirements of Section 99-3-28, is not supported by law. Clearly, the Legislature intended that the class of individuals listed in Section 99-3-28 be afforded certain due process rights that are not available in a grand jury proceeding. These due process rights cannot be simply mooted as is argued by the Appellants.

SECTION 99-3-28 DOES NOT CONTRAVENE THE CONSTITUTIONAL MANDATES IMPOSED UPON THE JUDICIARY FOR THE FAIR ADMINISTRATION OF JUSTICE

The Appellant's argument that Section 99-3-28 contravenes the Constitutional Mandates Imposed Upon The Judiciary For The Fair Administration of Justice is without merit.

Principally, the Appellant argues that the statute thwarts "the fair administration of justice because it mandates that certain classes of citizens of this state by given special treatment by the courts' (Appellants Brief, p. 15).

The Legislature, as part of its policy making authority, has on numerous occasions, created special classes of individuals to be treated and dealt with differently. For instance, Section 97-3-7 Miss. Code. Ann., 1972, provides that:

(I) A person is guilty of simple assault if he (a) attempts to cause or purposely, knowingly or recklessly causes bodily injury to another; or (b) negligently causes bodily injury to another with a deadly weapon or other means likely to produce death or serious bodily harm; or (c) attempts by physical menace to put another in fear of imminent serious bodily harm; and, upon conviction, he shall be punished by a fine of not more than Five Hundred Dollars (\$500.00) or by imprisonment in the county jail for not more than six (6) months, or both. * * * However, a person convicted of simple assault (a) upon a statewide elected official, law enforcement officer, fireman, emergency medical personnel, public health personnel, social worker or child protection specialist employed by the Department of Human Services or another agency, superintendent, principal, teacher or other instructional personnel, school attendance officer, school bus driver, or a judge of a circuit, chancery, county, justice or youth court or a judge of the Court of Appeals or a justice of the Supreme Court, district attorney, legal assistant to a district attorney, county prosecutor, municipal prosecutor, court reporter employed by a court, court administrator, clerk or deputy clerk of the court, or public defender, while such statewide elected official, judge or justice, law enforcement officer, fireman, emergency medical personnel, public health personnel, social worker, child protection specialist, superintendent, principal, teacher or other instructional personnel, school attendance officer, school bus driver, district attorney, legal assistant to a district attorney, county prosecutor, municipal prosecutor, court reporter employed by a court, court administrator, clerk or deputy clerk of the court. or public defender is acting within the scope of his duty, office or employment, or (b) upon a legislator while the Legislature is in regular or extraordinary session or while otherwise acting within the scope of his duty, office or employment, stall be punished by a fine of not more than One Thousand Dollars (\$1,000.00) or by imprisonment for not more than five (5) years, or both.

It is within the province of the Legislature to enact policy which in some instances, will provide special protection to individuals because of their office or duties. This is clearly a legislative function. The courts are less likely to enact rules which could address the special needs of this class of individuals. The legislative branch is better suited to address the special needs of the class of individuals indentified in Sections 99-3-28 and 97-3-7.

The Legislature is vested with the authority to legislate by statute the conduct and acts which can be charged as a crime. Simply put, it is the legislature that determines what acts constitutes a crime in the State of Mississippi. Logically, the legislature can also determine what

procedure must be followed in order to charge a person with the commission of a crime. It does so in many of the offenses which have been declared by statute to be a crime.

Examples of such procedural restrictions or prerequisites are:

Section 99-1-5 Miss. Code of Ann. 1972. Time limitation on prosecutions. This section limits prosecution for many crimes unless prosecution is commenced within two (2) years next after the commission thereof.

Section 99-7-2. When two or more offenses may be charged in single indictment; trial, verdict, and sentences. This statute directs how and when a grand jury can charge two or more offenses in the same indictment.

Section 99-9-35. Exemption from arrest and service of process. This statute exempts certain persons from arrest or service of process, civil or criminal.

These are but a few of legislative enactments which prescribe procedural prerequisites in the presentment and prosecution of crimes in this state.

The special class identified in Section 99-3-28 does not constitute an encroachment into the Rule making authority of the Court. As set forth above, the Legislature must necessarily address many policy issues involving criminal procedure, because they often, as is here, fall within the ambit of public policy issues.

This Court has recognized the necessary comity that has to exist between the two branches of government. In the case of *Hall v. State*, 539 So.2d 1338 (1989), the court held that:

This is not to say that the judiciary should give the back of its hand to every legislative enactment arguably encroaching upon its rule-making turf. Deference ought to be given such legislative expressions, not out of obligation but comity, not out of accession to authority, but in respect for the legislature as that branch of government closest to the people whom all branches have been created to serve. Where the invasion is minor and where otherwise the legislature has enacted upon a matter well within legislative authority, we may adopt the legislated rule as our own. See *Hudspeth v. State Highway Commission of Mississippi*, 534 So.2d 210, 213 (Miss.1988). For when all is said and done, law is not an end, but a means to the end of a society in which we should all want to live, and legislatures are one

structure democratic theory has devised for identifying the shape of that popularly desired society.

A grand jury investigates to determine if a crime, set forth by statute, should be charged in an indictment. The fact that there are procedural prerequisites before a crime can be charged as mandated in Section 99-3-28, does not render statute unconstitutional.¹

THE COURT DID NOT ERROR IN DISMISSING THE INDICTMENT AGAINST APPELLEE WITH PREJUDICE

The lower court in its ruling and order of September 28, 2009 correctly found that Appellant's failure to follow the requirements of Section 99-3-28 deprived Appellee of his constitutionally protected rights under the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendment of the United States Constitution, and that as a result, Appellee suffered loss of liberty and property without due process in violation of the double jeopardy clause of Mississippi and Federal Constitution.

The deprivation of Appellee's due process rights is directly related to his suspension from employment. The *Deeds v. State*, 2008-KA-00146-SCT (Miss. 2009) case cited by the Appellant, sets forth three factors which are indicative of Double Jeopardy. It is the third factor which is applicable to the subject case, **multiple punishments for the same offense**.

Appellee, is held by the lower court, was entitled as a matter of law to the procedural prerequisite mandated in Section 99-3-28. He suffered the suspension from employment during the period of the State's denial of his statutory due process right. As a result, the State should not be allowed to extract yet another punishment of the Appellee by subjecting him to continued prosecution. The State would be at liberty to continue to pursue prosecution of the Appellee, notwithstanding the punishment it has already extracted from him, but for the dismissal of the

¹ The United States Supreme Court has recognized the "essential balance" between the legislative and judicial branches created by the separation of powers: "The Legislature would be possessed of the power to prescribe[e] the rules by which the duties and rights of every citizen are to be regulated, but the power of [t]he interpretation of the laws would be the proper and peculiar province of the courts." Plaut v. Spendthrift Farm, Inc., 514 U.S. 211, 222 (1995)

indictment with prejudice by the lower court. The dismissal of the indictment with prejudice,

insures that the Appellee will not be subject to double jeopardy.

CONCLUSION

The ruling of the Circuit Court of Holmes County, Mississippi was proper and necessary,

given the failure of the Appellant to follow the statutory prerequisite mandated in Section 99-3-

28. The Appellant's arguments that the statute infringed upon the rule making authority of the

court and that it is unconstitutional, is without merit as argued herein. Appellant has drawn from

numerous citations in its effort to convince the court that it should be allowed to continue its

prosecution of the Appellee. However, none of the citations provide sufficient grounds for this

court to usurp the authority of the legislative branch of government to, as a matter of public

policy, provide for the protection of a class of individuals who, because of their work, are more

likely than others to be subject to false, unsupported and vindictive criminal charges. How else

can these individuals be protected, other than through legislative enactments. To rule otherwise,

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